1 MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No.: 1641
2 mbohn@bohnlawfirm.com
LAW OFFICES OF
3 MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ., LTD.
376 East Warm Springs Road, Ste. 100
4 Las Vegas, Nevada 89119
(702) 642-3113/ (702) 642-9766 FAX
5 Attorney for plaintiff/appellant
6

Electronically Filed
Nov 19 2013 10:58 a.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

7 SUPREME COURT
8 STATE OF NEVADA
9

10 DAISY TRUST
11 Appellant

No. 63611

12 vs.

13
14 WELLS FARGO BANK NA, MTC
FINANCIAL, INC., dba TRUSTEE CORPS
15 Respondents.
16
17

18 **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**
19

20
21 Michael F. Bohn, Esq.
Law Office of
Michael F. Bohn, Esq., Ltd.
22 376 East Warm Springs Rd., Ste. 100
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Whether the “super priority” homeowners association lien under NRS Chapter 116 takes priority over an outstanding first mortgage.
2. Whether a foreclosure of the “super priority” lien extinguishes the first mortgage.
3. Whether the District Court erred in granting defendant’s motion to dismiss.
4. Whether the District Court erred in failing to grant plaintiff’s motion for preliminary injunction.
5. The standard of review for the court’s dismissal of plaintiff’s complaint is rigorous and the court must construe the pleadings liberally and draw every fair intendment in favor of the plaintiff/appellant. The standard of review on the court’s refusal to grant plaintiff’s motion for a preliminary injunction is abuse of discretion, but questions of law are reviewed de novo.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Facts Pertinent to the Underlying Action

Daisy Trust (hereinafter “Plaintiff/appellant”) is the owner of the real property commonly known as 10209 Dove Row Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada (hereinafter “Property”). (APP. Pg. 2, ¶1) Plaintiff/appellant obtained title to the Property by way of a foreclosure deed recorded on August 9, 2012. (APP. Pgs. 20-23) The foreclosure deed arises from a delinquency in assessments due from the former owners, Donald K. Blume and Cynthia S. Blume to Westminster at Providence (hereinafter “the HOA”) pursuant to NRS Chapter 116. (APP. Pg. 2, ¶3)

Wells Fargo Bank NA (hereinafter “Respondent”) is the beneficiary of a deed of trust recorded as an encumbrance to the subject property on September 28, 2007 (App. Pg. 2, ¶4) See copy of deed of trust at App. Pgs. 24-42. MTC Financial dba Trustee Corps is the trustee of this deed of trust. (APP. Pg. 3, ¶5)

The agent for the HOA recorded a notice of delinquent assessment lien on August 5, 2010 (APP. Pgs. 258-259); recorded a notice of default and election to sell under homeowners association lien on September 30, 2010 (APP. Pgs. 261-263); and posted and published a notice of foreclosure sale scheduling a public auction on August 3, 2012. (APP. 270-272) As verified in the foreclosure deed, at the public auction held on August 3, 2012, the Daisy Trust was the highest bidder and paid the bid amount of \$10,500.00 for the property. (APP. Pgs. 20-22)

Plaintiff/appellant filed its Complaint on March 28, 2013 asserting three claims for relief: 1) entry of an injunction prohibiting Respondent from foreclosing its deed of trust; 2) entry of a judgment pursuant to NRS Chapter 40 determining that plaintiff was the rightful owner of the Property and that the defendants had no right, title, interest or claim to the Property; 3) entry of a declaration that title to the Property was vested in plaintiff free and clear of all liens and that the defendants be forever enjoined from asserting any right, title,

1 interest or claim to the Property. (APP. Pgs. 1-7)

2 On March 29, 2013, Plaintiff/appellant filed an ex parte motion for temporary
3 restraining order. (APP. Pgs. 6-63) On April 17, 2013, the court issued a temporary
4 restraining order enjoining the trustee's sale scheduled by Respondent to take place on
5 April 26, 2013. (APP. Pgs. 129-131) On May 21, 2013, Respondent filed an opposition
6 to Plaintiff/appellant's ex parte motion along with a countermotion to dismiss. (APP. Pgs.
7 177-218) On May 22, 2013, defendant MTC Financial, Inc. dba Trustee Corps' filed a
8 joinder to Respondent's opposition and countermotion to dismiss. (APP Pgs. 395-397)
9 Plaintiff/appellant filed its opposition to the motion to dismiss on June 3, 2013. (APP.
10 Pgs. 401-479) Respondent filed a reply in support of the countermotion to dismiss on
11 June 25, 2013. (APP. Pgs. 480-505) Defendant MTC Financial, Inc. dba Trustee Corps
12 filed a joinder to this reply on June 27, 2013. (APP. Pgs. 549-551)

14 At the hearing held on July 9, 2013, the judge denied Plaintiff/appellant's
15 application for a preliminary injunction and took the motion to dismiss under advisement.
16 On July 9, 2013, the court entered a written decision granting Respondent's motion to
17 dismiss. (APP. Pgs. 552-557) Notice of entry of this order was filed on July 11, 2013.
18 (APP. Pgs. 564-573) Plaintiff/appellant filed its notice of appeal on July 12, 2013.

19 **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

20 For the order dismissing plaintiff's complaint, the Court's review is rigorous, and
21 the court "must construe the pleading liberally and draw every fair intendment in favor
22 of the [non-moving party]." Vacation Village, Inc. v. Hitachi America, Ltd., 110 Nev.
23 481, 484, 874 P.2d 744, 746 (1994).

25 For an order denying motion for preliminary injunction, the Court's review is
26 limited to the record to determine whether the lower court exceeded the permissible
27 bounds of discretion, but questions of law are reviewed de novo. S.O.C., Inc. v. Mirage
28 Casino-Hotel, 117 Nev. 403, 407, 223 P.3d 243, 246 (2001).

ARGUMENT

1. **NRS 116.3116 grants to the HOA a super priority lien that takes priority over the earlier recorded deed of trust held by Respondent.**

NRS 116.3116 provides in part:

Liens against units for assessments.

1. **The association has a lien on a unit for any construction penalty that is imposed against the unit's owner pursuant to NRS 116.310305, any assessment levied against that unit or any fines imposed against the unit's owner from the time the construction penalty, assessment or fine becomes due.** Unless the declaration otherwise provides, any penalties, fees, charges, late charges, fines and interest charged pursuant to paragraphs (j) to (n), inclusive, of subsection 1 of NRS 116.3102 are enforceable as assessments under this section. If an assessment is payable in installments, the full amount of the assessment is a lien from the time the first installment thereof becomes due.

2. A lien under this section is prior to all other liens and encumbrances on a unit except:

(a) Liens and encumbrances recorded before the recordation of the declaration and, in a cooperative, liens and encumbrances which the association creates, assumes or takes subject to;

(b) A first security interest on the unit recorded before the date on which the assessment sought to be enforced became delinquent or, in a cooperative, the first security interest encumbering only the unit's owner's interest and perfected before the date on which the assessment sought to be enforced became delinquent; and

(c) Liens for real estate taxes and other governmental assessments or charges against the unit or cooperative.

The lien is also prior to all security interests described in paragraph (b) to the extent of any charges incurred by the association on a unit pursuant to NRS 116.310312 and to the extent of the assessments for common expenses based on the periodic budget adopted by the association pursuant to NRS 116.3115 which would have become due in the absence of acceleration during the 9 months immediately preceding institution of an action to enforce the lien, unless federal regulations adopted by the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation or the Federal National Mortgage Association require a shorter period of priority for the lien. If federal regulations adopted by the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation or the Federal National Mortgage Association require a shorter period of priority for the lien, the period during which the lien is prior to all security interests described in paragraph (b) must be determined in accordance with those federal regulations, except that notwithstanding the provisions of the federal regulations, the period of priority for the lien must

1 not be less than the 6 months immediately preceding institution of an action
2 to enforce the lien. This subsection does not affect the priority of mechanics'
3 or materialmen's liens, or the priority of liens for other assessments made by
the association. (emphasis added)

4 By its clear terms, NRS 116.3116 (2) provides that the super-priority lien for 9
5 months of charges is "prior to all security interests described in paragraph (b)." The deed
6 of trust held by Respondent falls squarely within the language of paragraph (b). The
7 statutory language does not limit the nature of this "priority" in any way.

8 When the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, a court should give that
9 language its ordinary meaning and not go beyond it. City Council of Reno v. Reno
10 Newspapers, 105 Nev. 886, 891, 784 P.2d 974, 977 (1989). Additionally, courts must
11 construe statutes to give meaning to all of their parts and language, and this court will
12 read each sentence, phrase, and word to render it meaningful within the context of the
13 purpose of the legislation. Board of County Comm'rs v. CMC of Nevada, 99 Nev. 739,
14 744, 670 P.2d 102, 105 (1983). A statute should be interpreted to give the terms their
15 plain meaning, considering the provisions as a whole, so as to read them in a way that
16 would not render words or phrases superfluous or make a provision nugatory. Southern
17 Nevada Homebuilders v. Clark County, 121 Nev. 446, 117 P.3d 171 (2005). A statute
18 should be construed so that no part is rendered meaningless. Public Employees' Benefits
19 Program v. Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department, 124 Nev. 138, 179 P.3d 542
20 (2008). Statutes must be construed so as to avoid absurd results. In re Orpheus Trust, 124
21 Nev. 170, 179 P.3d 562 (2008); Hunt v. Warden, 111 Nev. 1284, 903 P.2d 826 (1995).

22 The 9 month period in which the associations' lien is granted priority is commonly
23 referred to as the "super priority" lien. In the case of State Department of Business and
24 Industry v. Nevada Association Services, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 34, 294 P.3d 1223 (2012)
25 this Court stated in a footnote defining "super priority" that:

26 Priority status over certain types of encumbrances is granted to liens against
27 units for delinquent assessments. NRS 116.3116(2); NRS 116.093 (defining
28 "unit").

1 The plain language of the statute is that this 9 months “super priority” lien of the
2 association’s has priority over trust deeds. The statute is written in the negative. It first
3 lists three categories of liens and encumbrances which the association’s lien is not prior
4 to:

5 “A lien under this section is prior to all other liens and encumbrances on a unit
6 except:”

7 The statute then lists the three categories as

- 8 (a) liens recorded before the CC & R’s,
- 9 (b) mortgage liens, and
- (c) liens for taxes and other governmental assessments or charges.

10 In the same paragraph, the statute then states that the “super priority” lien takes
11 priority over “all security interests” described in paragraph (b), which exactly describes
12 the first mortgage lien asserted by Respondent. The relevant portion of the statute states:

13 The lien is also prior to all security interests described in paragraph (b) to the
14 extent of any charges incurred by the association on a unitand to the
15 extent of the assessments for common expenseswhich would have
preceding institution of an action to enforce the lien....

16 The statute specifies that the 9 month super priority lien is not “prior to” liens
17 recorded before the CC&Rs or liens for real estate taxes and other governmental
18 assessments or charges. The only liens which are subject to the “super priority”
19 exception are mortgage liens like the one held by Respondent.

20 **2. The HOA’s foreclosure of it’s super priority lien at the foreclosure sale**
21 **extinguished the deed of trust held by Respondent.**

22 It is hornbook law that foreclosure of a superior lien extinguishes all junior liens.
23 See McDonald v. D.P. Alexander & Las Vegas Boulevard, LLC, 121 Nev. 812, 818, 123
24 P.3d 748 (2005); Brunzell v. Lawyers Title Ins. Co., 101 Nev. 395, 705 P.2d 642
25 (1985); Aladdin Heating Corp. v. Trustees of Central States, 93 Nev. 257, 563 P.2d 82
26 (1977); and Erickson Construction Co. v. Nevada National Bank, 89 Nev. 359, 513
27 P.2d 1236 (1973). At the time the HOA foreclosed it’s “super priority” lien, all junior
28 liens, which would include Respondent’s formerly first mortgage lien, were extinguished.

1 This interpretation is the only rational, logical interpretation that would not lead to
2 absurd results. The only way to make sure that the HOA gets payment from the first is
3 if the first is in danger of losing it's security. This is exactly the same situation as when
4 a junior mortgage holder seeks to protect it's security interest from foreclosure by a senior
5 mortgage holder.

6 The court's findings that "the home owner's association super-priority lien only
7 creates a priority to payment from foreclosure proceeds" and that "NRS §116.3116 refers
8 to a judicial foreclosure action and is not applicable when the home owner's association
9 forecloses under the non-judicial foreclosure statutes" (APP. Pgs. 555-556) ignores the
10 express language of NRS 116.31162(1) which empowers the HOA to foreclose it's lien
11 using the procedure defined in NRS 116.31162 to 116.31168, inclusive. These sections
12 contain absolutely no language limiting the HOA's foreclosure rights to "a priority to
13 payment from foreclosure proceeds."

14 In the case of State Department of Business and Industry v. Nevada Association
15 Services, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 34, 294 P.3d 1223 (2012), this court upheld an injunction
16 prohibiting the State Department of Business and Industry, Financial Institutions Division
17 from enforcing it's declaratory order and advisory opinion regarding the amount of HOA
18 lien fees associations could collect. This court held that the Financial Institutions
19 Division did not have jurisdiction or authority to interpret NRS Chapter 116, but that this
20 jurisdiction and authority rested with the Real Estate Division. The decision states in
21 part:

22 The language of NRS 116.615 and NRS 116.623 is clear and unambiguous.
23

24 Based on a plain, harmonized reading of these statutes, the responsibility of
25 determining which fees may be charged, the maximum amount of such fees,
26 **and whether they maintain a priority**, rests with the Real Estate Division
27 and the CCICCH.
28

We therefore determine that the plain language of the statutes requires
that the CCICCH and the Real Estate Division, and no other
commission or division, interpret NRS Chapter 116. Consequently, the
Department lacked jurisdiction to issue an advisory opinion interpreting

1 NRS Chapter 116. Therefore, the district court did not abuse its discretion
2 in determining that NAS had a likelihood of success on the merits.
(emphasis added)

3
4 This court specifically noted that the responsibility to determine whether the fees
5 “maintain a priority” rests with the Real Estate Division. In response to this decision, the
6 Real Estate Division issued its opinion interpreting NRS 116.3116. This advisory
7 opinion, dated December 12, 2012, was attached as Exhibit 3 to Plaintiff/appellant’s ex
8 parte motion for temporary restraining order (APP. Pgs. 102 - 121).

9 Section II of the opinion, cites to a portion of Section 2 to the commentary from
10 the drafters of the Uniform Common-Interest Ownership Act (UCIOA).

11 The opinion letter from the Real Estate Division states, beginning on page 8:

12 NRS 116.3116(2) provides that the association’s lien is prior to all other
13 liens recorded against the unit *except*: liens recorded against the unit before
14 the declaration; first security interests (first deeds of trust); and real estate
15 taxes or other governmental assessments. There is one exception to the
16 exceptions, so to speak, when it comes to priority of the association’s lien.
17 This exception makes a portion of an association’s lien prior to the first
security interest. The portion of the association’s lien given priority
status to a first security interest is what is referred to as the “super priority
lien” to distinguish it from the other portion of the association’s lien that is
subordinate to a first security interest.

18 The ramifications of the super priority lien are significant in light of the fact
19 that superior liens, when foreclosed, remove all junior liens. **An association
can foreclose its super priority lien and the first security interest holder
will either pay the super priority lien amount or lose its security.** NRS
20 116.3116 is found in the Uniform Act at § 3-116. Nevada adopted the
21 original language from § 3-116 of the Uniform Act in 1991. From its
22 inception, the concept of a super priority lien was a novel approach. The
Uniform Act comments to §3-116 state:

23 [A]s to prior first security interests, the association’s lien does
24 have priority for 6 months’ assessments based on the periodic
25 budget. A significant departure from existing practice, the 6
26 months’ priority for the assessment lien strikes an equitable
27 balance between the need to enforce collection of unpaid
28 assessments and the obvious necessity for protecting the
priority of the security interests of lenders. As a practical
matter, secured lenders will most likely pay the 6 months’s
assessments demanded by the association rather than having
the association foreclose on the unit. If the mortgage lender
wishes, an escrow for assessments can be required.

1 This comment on § 3-116 illustrates the intent to allow for 6 months of
2 assessments to be prior to a first security interest. The reason this was done
3 was to accommodate the association's need to enforce collection of unpaid
4 assessments. The controversy surrounding the super priority lien is in
5 defining its limit. This is an important consideration for an association
6 looking to enforce its lien. **There is little benefit to an association if it
incurs expenses pursuing unpaid assessments that will be eliminated by
an imminent foreclosure of the first security interest. As stated in the
comment, it is also likely that the holder of the first security interest will
pay the super priority lien amount to avoid foreclosure by the association.**
(emphasis added)

7 (APP. Pgs. 109-110)
8

9 This court has repeatedly held that courts should attach substantial weight to an
10 administrative body's interpretation of statutes which it is charged to enforce. Dutchess
11 Bus. Servs., Inc. v. Nev. State Bd. of Pharmacy, 124 Nev. 701, 191 P.3d 1159
12 (Nev.2008); Folio v. Briggs, 99 Nev. 30, 656 P.2d 842 (1983); Sierra Pacific Power Co.
13 v. Department of Taxation, 96 Nev. 295, 607 P.2d 1147 (1980); Clark County School
14 District v. Local Government Employee Management Relations Board, 90 Nev. 442, 530
15 P.2d 114 (1974).

16 This court has frequently stated that when interpreting a statute, the court should
17 review the legislative history to determine the Legislature's intent. State v. Tricas, 128
18 Nev. Ad. Op. 62, 290 P.3d 255 (2012); Gold Ridge Partners v. Sierra Pacific Power Co.
19 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 47, 285 P.3d 1059 (2012).

20 Chapter 116 of the Nevada Revised Statutes is derived from the Uniform Common-
21 Interest Ownership Act (UCIOA). This court has referred to NRS Chapter 116 and to the
22 Uniform Act in interpreting other provisions of NRS Chapter 116 in a number of cases.
23 For example in Holcomb Condominium HOA v. Stewart Venture, LLC, 129 Nev. Adv.
24 Op. 18, 300 P.3d 294 (2013), this court stated "the term 'separate instrument' is not
25 defined in NRS Chapter 116 or the Uniform Common-Interest Ownership Act (UCIOA)."

26 In Beazer Homes Holding Corp. v. District Court, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 66, 291 P.3d
27 128 (2012), this court stated "the commentary to the Restatement (Third) of Property,
28 section 6.11, which mirrors section 3-102 of the Uniform Common-Interest Ownership
Act, upon which NRS 116.3102 is based."

1 In Boulder Oaks Community Association v. B&J Andrews, 125 Nev. 397, 215
2 P.3d 27 (2009), this court stated “...NRS Chapter 116 is Nevada’s version of the Uniform
3 Common-Interest Ownership Act (UCIOA).

4 Section 2 to the commentary from the drafters of the uniform act is the relevant
5 portion pertaining to the “super priority” lien, and was cited in the opinion letter from the
6 Real Estate Division. The entirety of section 2 reads:

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