IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DAISY TRUST

Appellant,

VS.

WELLS FARGO BANK NA, MTC FINANCIAL, INC., dba TRUSTEE CORPS, Case No. 63611

Electronically Filed District Court #A-13-6790922 2014 02:12 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

Respondents.

APPEAL From the Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable David Barker, District Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

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

Though not yet decided by this Court, the Eighth Judicial District Court has repeatedly ruled that parties similarly situated to Daisy Trust cannot succeed on identical claims because they are not bona fide purchasers. *Design 3.2 LLC v.*

Bank of New York Mellon, Case No. A-10-621628, Dept. XV.⁴ In *Design 3.2*, the court granted summary judgment in the lender's favor, holding that the plaintiff was not a bona fide purchaser. That court found that because the plaintiff purchased the property "with actual or constructive knowledge of [the lender's] interest" (as it was recorded approximately three years prior to the plaintiff's purchase), and because plaintiff did not pay valuable consideration for the property (since the amount of the deed of trust was \$576,000 and the plaintiff purchased for only \$3,743.84), then summary judgment in favor of the lender was proper. AA 308-10. Additionally, the court held that the lender's first security interest "was not extinguished by the foreclosure sale of the HOA and the plaintiffs took title of the property subject to the [deed of trust] pursuant to NRS 116.3116." AA 308-10.

Daisy Trust is not a bona fide purchaser. First, Daisy Trust knew the equities present here. It bought the Property approximately five years after the recording of Wells Fargo's Deed of Trust and approximately seventeen months after the recording of Wells Fargo's Notice of Default. As such, Daisy Trust had notice of the existence of Wells Fargo's first in time lien and that the lien was senior in priority to the HOA's lien. Indeed, "[e]very such conveyance or

⁴ Wells Fargo acknowledges that this and other unpublished orders it cites are not precedential. It does believe that this order – addressing the identical issue – may provide authority persuasive to this Court as it addresses the issue for the first time.

instrument of writing, acknowledged or proved and certified, and recorded in the manner prescribed in this chapter or in NRS 105.010 to 105.080, inclusive, must from the time of filing the same with the Secretary of State or recorder for record, *impart notice to all persons of the contents thereof; and subsequent purchasers and mortgagees shall be deemed to purchase and take with notice.*" NRS 111.320 (emphasis added). In light of this constructive notice, Daisy Trust cannot maintain that it lacked notice of the "equities" and of Wells Fargo's interest.

Second, the purchase was not made for valuable consideration and the price paid was not commercially reasonable. Daisy Trust purchased the Property for \$10,500.00. AA 233-36. The original loan amount was \$417,000.00 – almost forty times the amount Daisy Trust paid. AA 238-56. Moreover, zillow.com estimates the current value at \$381,883 – approximately thirty-six times the amount Daisy Trust paid.

Notably, Vermont, which also has also adopted the Uniform Act, has voided an HOA foreclosure sale where the price paid was merely the small amount due to the HOA. Section 3-116(q) of the Uniform Act states that "[e]very aspect of a foreclosure, sale, or other disposition under this section, including the method, advertising, time, date, place, and *terms*, must be *commercially*

reasonable."⁵ (emphasis added). The Vermont Supreme Court voided an HOA foreclosure sale, holding that sale of the property for \$3,510.10 was not commercially reasonable when the property had a fair market value of \$70,000. *Will v. Mill Condominium Owners' Ass'n*, 848 A.2d 336 (Vt. 2004). As in *Will*, Daisy Trust's purchase is commercially unreasonable as it is not valuable consideration where the fair market value is approximately thirty-six times the amount Daisy Trust paid. Daisy Trust cannot be a bona fide purchaser – the purchase price it paid was grossly inadequate and it took its interest with knowledge of Wells Fargo's first security interest. Daisy Trust therefore cannot quiet title in its name on that basis, and its claims fail as a matter of law.

Indeed, the HOA foreclosure sale should be invalidated for inadequate consideration. Daisy Trust's purchase price is inadequate and grossly unfair, especially where Daisy Trust had knowledge of Wells Fargo's first-in-time Deed of Trust. "To say that a mortgagee with power to sell, who has an incumbrance [sic] on the estate of less than one-third of its value--an incumbrance [sic] which five or six months' rent will discharge--has the right to sell the estate absolutely to the first man he meets who will pay the amount of incumbrance [sic], without any attempt to get a larger price for it, would in our opinion be equivalent to saying

⁵ While the Nevada Legislature did not adopt subsection (q) of Section 3-116, this section is relevant to understand the original purpose and intent of the Act – to ensure protection of the first-in-time security interests.

fraud and oppression shall be protected and encouraged." *Runkle v. Gaylord*, 1 Nev. 123, 129 (1865). *See also Golden v. Tomiyasu*, 79 Nev. 503, 504, 387 P.2d 989 (1963) (holding that inadequacy of price plus fraud, unfairness, oppression, or other bad conduct, may be sufficient to set aside a sale); *Will v. Mill Condominium Owners' Ass'n*, 848 A.2d 336 (Vt. 2004) (voiding an HOA superpriority foreclosure sale holding that sale of the property for \$3,510.10 was not commercially reasonable when the property had a fair market value of \$70,000); and *Design 3.2, LLC*, Case No. A-10-621628, Dept. XV.

E. Daisy Trust's Reliance On the Real Estate Division's Advisory Opinion Is Misplaced.

To support its proposed statutory construction, Daisy Trust relies on the State of Nevada's Department of Business and Industry, Real Estate Division's Advisory Opinion on the calculation and determination of the super-priority assessment amount under NRS 116.3116(2) ("Advisory Opinion"). AA 102-21. Reliance on the Advisory Opinion is inappropriate for the following reasons.

First, the Advisory Opinion's statement on the matter is mere dictum. A statement in an opinion is dictum when it is "unnecessary to a determination of the questions involved." *Argentena Consol. Min. Co. v. Jolley Urga Wirth Woodbury* & *Standish*, 125 Nev. 527, 536, 216 P.3d 779, 785 (2009) (citing *St. James Village, Inc. v. Cunningham*, 125 Nev. 211, 210 P.3d 190, 193 (2009)). Dicta are not controlling. *Argentena Consol.*, 216 P.3d at 785; *Kaldi v. Farmers Ins. Exch.*, 117

Nev. 273, 282, 21 P.3d 16, 22 (2001).

Here, the issue of whether a first priority deed of trust is extinguished by an HOA foreclosure sale under the statute was neither presented to or addressed by the Real Estate Division. Instead, the issues presented were limited to the calculation and determination of the assessment amount, and action required to invoke the statutory protections.⁶ The Real Estate Division did not consider and did not determine the issue of lien extinguishment. The statements from the Advisory Opinion upon which Daisy Trust relies are unnecessary to determine the three issues presented to the Real Estate Division. Not only are those statements dicta, but the fact that the issues were not even presented in that dispute makes them gratuitous. The Court should be wary of a statement about an issue that was neither presented nor briefed, and which is not material to the decision. Because any commentary on that point is a mere dictum, and is indeed gratuitous, it is not binding and should be disregarded.

Second, this Advisory Opinion, from an administrative branch of state government, is not the law of Nevada. The Supreme Court of Nevada has previously held that opinions from a state or governmental agency do not

⁶ The only issues presented and decided were: (1) whether the costs of collecting the assessments could be included in the limited super-priority portion; (2) whether the super-priority amount could exceed nine months of assessments; and (3) whether the HOA was required to institute a "civil action." AA 102.

constitute binding law. "Obviously, the responsibility of interpreting statutes belongs to the courts; and even if the Commission took it upon itself to render an advisory legal opinion, it is the duty of the court to determine the legal meaning of a statute, de novo." *Nev. Comm'n on Ethics v. JMA/Lucchesi*, 110 Nev. 1, 17, 866 P.2d 297, 307 (1994) (emphasis added) (in its ruling that the Nevada Ethics Commission had no authority to interpret statutes or contracts and its advisory opinion was not law). Additionally, the Nevada Supreme Court has held that "[t]hat Commission *can only advise. Its opinion carries no binding force.*" *Dunphy v. Sheehan*, 92 Nev. 259, 264, 549 P.2d 332, 336 (1976) (emphasis added). Moreover, "a lay body in the executive department of government … has no power to adjudicate 'violations' of the law much less to invalidate contracts." *Nevada Comm'n on Ethics*, 866 P.2d at 305.

The Nevada Supreme Court has good company in holding that opinions of government or administrative agencies do not bind courts. Indeed, the U.S. Supreme Court has held that "[t]he rulings of this Administrator are not reached as a result of hearing adversary proceedings in which he finds facts from evidence and reaches conclusions of law from findings of fact. They are not, of course, conclusive, even in the cases with which they directly deal, much less in those to which they apply only by analogy. They do not constitute an interpretation of the Act or a standard for judging factual situations which binds a district court's processes, as an authoritative pronouncement of a higher court might do." *Skidmore v. Swift & Co.*, 323 U.S. 134, 139 (1944) (where the agency at issue was the Administrator of the Fair Labor Standards Act).) The Real Estate Division of the Department of Business and Industry is an administrative agency, similar to the Nevada Ethics Commission or the Administrator of the Fair Labor Standards Act. The Real Estate Division's interpretation of any law is not binding, and under the circumstances of this Advisory Opinion should be viewed with particular skepticism.

Daisy Trust correctly notes that the Nevada Real Estate Division of the Department of Business and Industry is responsible for issuing advisory opinions related to the amounts of fees and priority of the HOA super-priority lien. Opening Br. at 7 (citing *State Dep't of Bus. & and Indus., Fin. Institutions Div. v. Nevada Ass'n Servs., Inc.,* 294 P.3d 1223, 1227-28 (Nev. 2012). While true, that in no way implies that a court should follow those opinions. Rather, it addressed only the sterile issue of *which administrative agency* had authority to issue advisory opinions regarding NRS 116 – the Department of Business and Industry or the Real Estate Division. *Id.* at 1227-28. *Nevada Ass'n Services* does not preempt or prohibit a Nevada court from interpreting NRS 116. The Nevada Supreme Court and the United States Supreme Court made clear: advisory opinions on administrative or governmental agency issues are not binding authority.

While the Court may consider these types of advisory opinions, the issue in this appeal is a significant one of first impression. Moreover, the district courts have issued many decisions already ruling on this identical issue and rejecting the Real Estate Division's Advisory Opinion, as explained above in footnote 1. In the face of these thoughtful opinions, any reliance on the non-binding Advisory Opinion would be ill-advised.

F. Daisy Trust's Reliance on the Summerhill Case Is Misplaced.

Though Daisy Trust touts the Washington case of *Summerhill Village Homeowners Association v. Roughly* as a "published decision" working in its favor here, Daisy Trust is wrong for many reasons. *See* 289 P.3d 645 (Wash. 2012).

First, the issue presented to the Washington court was whether the lender had a right to *redemption*, after a *judicial* foreclosure, under the governing Washington *redemption* statute. *Id.* at 646. This opinion interprets Washington's redemption statute, not its condominium associations' super-priority lien statute. *Id.* at 649. The *Summerhill* court was not presented with, and thus could not have determined, whether the lender's first security deed of trust was extinguished – the issue presented here – making any commentary there on the extinguishment issue dicta. *Id.* at 645. Moreover, even if that court had ruled on the extinguishment issue, which it did not, the opinion is of limited value to a Nevada state court interpreting a different statute. This appeal does not raise any issue concerning Wells Fargo's right of redemption under Nevada law; indeed NRS 116.3116 does not even include a right of redemption.

Second, the dispute in *Summerhill* arose out of an HOA *judicial* foreclosure of its super-priority lien, not a *non-judicial* foreclosure, as in this case. 287 P.3d at 646. As this Court is aware, the procedures and requirements for judicial and non-judicial foreclosure differ starkly. In particular, the notice requirements under judicial foreclosure are much more stringent in that the defendant must actually be personally served with the summons and complaint. They contrast sharply with NRS 116.31163, which requires notice to the lender only under specific and limited circumstances. Under NRS 116.31163, an HOA must only give notice to a "holder of a recorded security interest encumbering the unit's owner's interest *who has notified the association, 30 days before the recordation of the notice of default, of the existence of the security interest.*"

Additionally, unlike NRS 116.3116, judicial foreclosure in the Washington case allows for a period of redemption, which exists to cure defects in the foreclosure process. Finally, under RCW 64.34.364, (which Daisy Trust attempts, but fails, to analogize to NRS 116.3116) if an HOA elects to foreclose *non-judicially*, the HOA loses it super-priority status.⁷ Thus, the statute at issue in

⁷ RCW 64.34.364(5) states that: "If the association forecloses its lien under this section *nonjudicially* pursuant to chapter 61.24 RCW, as provided by subsection

Summerhill actually contradicts Daisy Trust's position in cases of non-judicial foreclosure. Because a judicial foreclosure action cannot be analogized to a non-judicial action, Daisy Trust's reliance upon *Summerhill* is misplaced.

Third, the Washington statute at issue in *Summerhill*, RCW 64.34.364, expressly applies to *condominium* associations *only*. The relevant provisions governing homeowners associations are governed by a separate set of statutes and, in fact, do not provide for a comparable homeowners' association lien. *See generally* RCW 64.38. Notably, the definition of "homeowners' association" expressly excludes condominium associations governed by RCW 64.34, stating that a "'[h]omeowners' association' *does not mean an association created under chapter 64.32 or 64.34 RCW*."⁸ RCW 64.38.010(11). That the relevant association here is a homeowners association, and not a condominium association, provides yet another reason *Summerhill* does not apply.

G. Wells Fargo's Choice Not To Pay the HOA Lien Amount Is Irrelevant.

Daisy Trust argues that Wells Fargo had adequate opportunity to protect its

⁽⁹⁾ of this section, the association *shall not be entitled to the lien priority* provided for under subsection (3) of this section." AA 211-13.

⁸ While "condominium" is defined as "real property, portions of which are designated for separate ownership and the remainder of which is designated for common ownership solely by the owners of those portions. Real property is not a condominium unless the undivided interests in the common elements are vested in the unit owners, and unless a declaration and a survey map and plans have been recorded pursuant to this chapter." RCW 64.34.020(10).

interest, but failed to do so. It asserts that because Wells Fargo elected not to pay the HOA Lien amount, Wells Fargo has waived its right to assert these defenses. Not only is Daisy Trust misquoting a provision of Wells Fargo's Deed of Trust, Daisy Trust provides no legal support for its position. The deed of trust provision Daisy Trust relies on expressly states that the beneficiary "*may* do and pay for whatever is reasonable or appropriate to protect Lender's interest . . ." AA 244-45. But of course, "may" is permissive – not mandatory. *Tarango v. State Indus. Ins. Sys.*, 117 Nev. 444, 451, 25 P.3d 175, 180 (2001) (citing S.N.E.A. v. Daines, 108 Nev. 15, 19, 824 P.2d 276, 278 (1992)).

Tellingly, Daisy Trust also fails to include the last sentence of the operative provision, which states that "[a]lthough Lender *may* take action under this Section 9, *Lender does not have to do so* and is not under any duty or obligation to do so. It is agreed that *Lender incurs no liability for not taking any or all actions* authorized under this Section 9." AA 245. Daisy Trust's contention is therefore baseless and fails as a matter of law. Wells Fargo has not waived any rights or defenses.

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